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Do you know more? If so, we would love to hear from you. For example, do
you have any old photographs of Colway Mill (now Higher Mill Flats) in
operation? Please contact the author or Ken Gollop at the Museum.

Summary

This paper covers all those products which were made in Lyme from the flax
and hemp, both of which were once widely grown in West Dorset and
imported at the Cobb. The paper also concerns the chequered history of
Colway Mill and two failed ventures: a steam oil mill at the Cobb and a short-
lived attempt to break into the Bridport business of twine and cordage
production.

Colway Mill — the Oil Mills (now Higher Mill Flats)

Colway Mill is also covered in Paper 1: Woollen Cloth - for its role as a fulling
or tucking mill from about 1832 to 1847. From around 1909 it produced
electricity (Roundell Green 2006). Ordnance Survey maps usually label it as a
Corn Mill, which seems to be an error unless you can turn up new evidence.
Its date of construction is unknown, sometime after a 1646 Henley Estate
survey and before Claridge wrote his survey of Dorset farming in 1798.

Colway Mill on the 1903/5 OS Map. Woodmead Road now crosses
the Lim just below the weir at Jericho and South Avenue runs behind
the mill along the line of the footpath. This map is the only reference to
corn milling at this site and is thought to be wrong.

In between its various uses — oil, fulling, twine, electricity and housing, Colway
Mill has been derelict or even ruinous. The mill can easily be visited by
walking up the Lim Valley from the Museum — it is located in Windsor Terrace
— and its millpond wall, tail race, millpond overflow and leat can be seen, but
please do not intrude into the privacy of its residents. The leat system started
from the overflow from Horn Tavern Mill at Horn Bridge. That mill fell derelict
and disappeared in the 19" century, after Colway Mill replaced Horn's
traditional function as a fulling mill.
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Colway Mill, also known as the Oil Mill or Higher M ill, from across the
River Lim seen in the 1950s, before the demolition of the miller's house and
the conversion of the mill to Higher Mill Flats. The millwheel was at the far
end.

The Steam Oil Mill at Cobb Hamlet

The exact site of John Drayton's short-lived and ill-fated steam oil mill is
uncertain, but it probably on the yard owned by him behind his Bonded
Stores. There is nothing to see on site today.

John Drayton’s yard lies behind the white building, now the Old Bonded
Stores, Mr Drayton’s Bonding Stores on old maps. It was this building that
narrowly escaped destruction when the steam driven oil mill was destroyed by
fire in 1831.

LYME
REGIS
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The Yards and buildings at the Cobb as shown on Joh n Wood’s Plan of
1841. The new road, now called Cobb Road, comes down to Cobb Square as it does
today, the line continues southwards as the Cobb wall. The Cobb Arms has yet to be
built, on the part of Mr Drayton’s Yards, across Marine Parade (then called The
Walk). Mr Drayton’s Bonded Stores front that road adjoining Cobb Buildings on Mr
Rendall's yard on one side and the Old Watch House on the other.

Oil Seeds — the background

Crushing and pressing linseed and hemp seed produces oils and a residue
known as oil cake, which is used as cattle feed. Linseed is the seed from the
flax plant. Bridport had Parliament impose a monopoly of hemp growing and
rope and net manufacture in 1529, but it only applied to an area within 5 miles
from the town (Roberts 1834), so did mot affect Lyme. Flax is assumed to
have been grown locally for small-scale linen or twine production from flax
found in the attic of Loom House, near the Cannington Viaduct in Uplyme
(Uplyme WI 1982). Hemp seed is the seed of the cannabis plant. The plant is
exactly the same in appearance to the narcotic variety, but has no drug value.
On a larger scale, flax and hemp are known to have been grown in West
Dorset in the late 18" and 19™ centuries for twine and cordage production.
Stevenson (1812) records 500 acres under hemp and 5,000 under flax in the
area. Their oily seeds would have been readily available in Lyme and were
also being imported. John Drayton was advertising best imported St
Petersburg seed at the Cobb in 1831 (Dorset County Chronicle March 1%
1831). Cobb Dues for the loading and unloading of oil cake were 1/- per ton in
1879, showing that there was a trade in oil cake after local production ceased.

In the 20™ century oil seed production ceased except during the wars, but
short-staple flax for oil has been grown recently on a commercial scale by
George Allhusen at Uplyme, bringing back the delicate of blue of flowering flax
to the fields, although the oil is now pressed elsewhere.

Linseed oil is used to make paint, putty and varnish, to harden and beautify
wooden articles and as animal food additive. Hemp oil has more limited and
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special uses, but is now seen as having important health-giving properties.
Other than Claridge (1796), there is particular evidence for the production of
hemp oil here.

Oil Milling at Colway Mill - Robert Clarke, then Dr  ayton & Parker

The first mention of an oil mill at Lyme is by Claridge (1798), repeated in
William Stevenson’s 1812 revision, both published for the Board of
Agriculture. Claridge also suggests that paint may have been made here:
entirely possible as linseed oil is an essential ingredient of paint and pigment
preparation is another process requiring grinding under edge-running stones
in a mill. Both writers say that the oil mill at Lyme was run by a “Mr Dawson”
“for the produce of hemp and flax. Dawson must be an error for John Drayton,
a Broad Street wine, spirit and timber merchant, oil miller, surveyor, house
and fire insurance agent, who was Mayor in 1839/40 and who lived in the
Great House.

Crushing linseed to make linseed oil and oil cake was carried on at Colway
Mill using water power, by Robert Clarke until 1806 when John Drayton took
over, in association with Mr Parker. Drayton & Parker gave up oil milling at
Colway sometime between 1821 and 1824.

John Drayton advertised in the Sherbourne Mercury September 8™
1806 that, together with Mr Parker, he had taken over Mr Clarke’s Oil
Mills in Lyme. Mr Clarke had been producing oil for many years. The
advertisers claimed that they producing the best Linseed Oil, without
any adulteration, and that “gentlemen graziers should make a trial of
their Oil Cake for fattening beasts and bringing up their young flock.

The Process at Colway Mill

Stevenson (1812) says it was possible to extract 2 gallons of oil per bushel of
linseed (10 litres from 22kg) and he describes the method, ideally suited to the
power of a strongly-built water mill. The process involved first bruising, before
pressing. The drive from the waterwheel at Colway Mill was to a shaft rotating
horizontally, rather than the vertical shaft of a corn mill, so it was suitable for
producing oil and later for fulling cloth.

The shaft drove vertical-axis millstones running on their edges in a stone
trough, rather than horizontally rotating stones as in a corn mill. The seed was
placed in the trough and bruised by the mill stone, rather than crushed at this
stage. The bruised seed was then packed into horse hair cloths called lappers
to retain the husks.

The next stage involved placing the lappers under heavy timbers which were
repeatedly raised and dropped by cams on the rotating mill shaft, the oil thus
pressed out being collected. Heating the spent lappers would result in the
release of more oil on further pressing, but this would not be of such good
quality as the first, cold pressed oil. The remaining cake-like mass of seed
husks removed from the lappers was sold as oil cake for cattle: the cakes are
so hard that they require to be broken in a crushing machine, usually on the
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farm. Sad to relate, but In 1813 Christopher Moore was crushed to death in
the oil mill at the age of 53.

Colway Mill had to be strongly built to withstand these pounding forces, more
strongly that a corn or textile mill need be. It is a three storey building with
large quoins — using the largest stones that could be got from the Blue Lias.
The miller's cottage and outbuildings have been demolished, together with the
overshot mill wheel, but the millpond wall is still standing. In the river bank can
be seen the millpond overflow tunnel and the tail-race tunnel. It was fed from
the overflow from the now-vanished Horn Tavern Mill at Horn Bridge, which in
turn was fed from the weir at Middle Mill Farm. The leats to both can be traced
on the ground for much of their length.

The first mention of an oil mill, which clearly locates it on the ground as
Colway Mill, is an 1819 Henley Estate map which shows two parcels of land,
No. 26 Oil Mills and two orchards leading to Middle Mill” [Farm] and “27
Tenement adjacent to Oil Mills”.

Although Robert Clarke made way for Drayton & Parker to start oil milling in
1806, he retained the lease until his death in 1824. It seems that the
partnership had already ceased milling, because at the sale of the remaining
lease on Clarke’s death it was described a “former oil mill” (Dorset County
Chronicle 12" February 1824), although it is shown as Oil Mill on the 1821
Lyme Regis & Crewkerne Turnpike Trust's “proposed lines of roads” map of
1821. By 1831 it was in ruins, shown as such on the Ordnance Survey’'s
special map for the Select Committee on the Lyme Regis Borough Boundary.

The Museum has two, 13-14cm typically Victorian keys, labelled in best early
19" century lettering on oiled paper “Keys to Oil Mills, Lyme Regis”, possibly
in John Drayton’s hand. These were found in Beviss & Beckinsale’s Solicitors’
office in Crewkerne. These keys may date from this or a later period of use
when the mill was refurbished and fitted with fulling stocks by Glyde & Co,
who took the lease from the Henley Estate. In 1847, when Glyde & Cos mills
and equipment was auctioned, the building was still called the Oil Mill in the
sale advertisement. By 1857 it was in use again, as a twine spinning mill —
see below for details.

Cobb Hamlet steam-driven oil mill — John Drayton

In 9" June 1831 the Dorset County Chronicle reported that a steam-driven
plant was established to crush linseed at Cobb Hamlet, presumably in one of
John Drayton’s yards near the Bonded Warehouses. Drayton was still
interested in oil milling, despite having given up Colway Mill some time
between 1813 and 1824. He had arranged for John Martin, an engineer, to set
up a “beautiful and much admired” steam engine to drive a newly-invented
screw press. This was reported as cutting out the noise of the stamping mills
previously used for linseed crushing, exerting a force of 2,000 tons, getting oil
out more quickly than before (Dorset County Chronicle June 9™ 1831). John
Drayton was also an agent for the West of England Fire Insurance Office,
which is somewhat ironic in view of what happened next.
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Unfortunately the premises were destroyed by fire, reported the Sherborne
Mercury on 28th January 1831. Mr Martin’s Engine, oil cake, oil and deal
wood stores were destroyed, but lodging houses and Mr Drayton’s Bonded
Stores nearby were saved. The Bonded Stores still stand - the fire did not
spread, it was said, because of the soundness of the “parting wall” [party wall
separating the buildings] - suggesting that the fire must have been right next
door, therefore behind the Old Watch House, rather than across the road on
the Cobb Arms site. No cause could be found: the foreman had checked the
premises shortly before the fire broke out. Not even a fire bucket could be
found and the premises were only partially insured! Three things stand out: an
insurance agent not fully insuring his own premises, even thinking of putting
out an oil fire with buckets of water and, as linseed-oil soaked cloths can self-
ignite, perhaps it was oil-soaked waste that caused the ignition!

The steam engine and stores cannot have been that badly damaged after all,
as on 1® March 1832 John Drayton advertised in the Dorset County
Chronicle:

A Great Bargain! — a very good steam engine, of 6-10 horse power,
with fly wheel complete, an excellent boiler, equal to any in the
Kingdom, with a new fire box of improved fire bars, and the whole of
the machinery for an oil mill (except the stones or rollers for crushing
the seed) by which 50 cakes can be made per hour. The whole can be
erected in a premise of about 30ft by 12ft. This machinery only worked
about 12 months before the premises were unfortunately destroyed by
fire, and there are objections to its being erected again on the same
site, in consequence of the Bonding Warehouses adjoining - the reason
for its being offered for sale.

Also for sale was about 600 bushels of new English linseed and some St
Petersburg crushing linseed. Apply to the owner, John Drayton, Merchant,
Lyme - n. b. All letters to be post paid.

With that, oil seed crushing in Lyme Regis ceased for good.

Sailcloth, Twine and Net Industry in the Lyme Regis — Messrs Wallis &

Brown’s Lyme Cordage, Netting & Sailcloth Company

As long as boatbuilding and fishing flourished at Lyme there was a need for
sailcloth, netting and ropes. As far back as 1489 canvas cloth (made from
flax) was being imported through the Cobb, charged harbour dues at 1/2d or
1d/ton, depending on whether imported by natives or aliens. Linseed oil
manufacture in Lyme could suggest that flax was grown or that the flax seed
was imported. Cotton, flax and hemp were passing over the Cobb wall in
1879, at 1/-, oil cake at 1/-, sail cloth at 6d and cordage at 1/- a ton.

That there was an earlier twine and cordage industry is shown by the names
of the fields in which the first Lyme Gas Works was built in 1835 — Spinning
Yard and Spinning and Line Walk. The term “spinning walk” is used in Bridport
as an alternative for “ropewalk”, referring to the process of spinning yarns
together to make rope along a long, narrow and open (later covered) walkway,

Industrial Lyme Paper 8 — Flax and Hemp Products © R Bull & L Bdum 2010 6



often lined with willow or fruit trees for shade to which supports were fixed to
hold the yarns off the ground. From the cottages at the top of Spinning Walk
(later called Carpenters’ Row and now forming the house known as Bay View)
to the bottom of the field at Charmouth Lane (later Gas Fields and now East
Cliff), is exactly the same distance (400 feet) as the length of many of
Bridport's spinning walks (eg, the covered former spinning walks now forming
St Michael’s Trading Estate in Bridport). By 1841 these fields were occupied
by Edward Pierce & Co, carpenters, as well as Lyme’s first gas works.

Some 25 years after oil milling stopped at Colway Mill the emphasis changed
to fibre production. Roland Brown (1857) reports that the Lyme Cordage,
Sacking and Sailcloth Co’s newly erected establishment...beyond the bridge
over Jordan can only mean Colway Mill (now Higher Mill Flats), as from 1854
the Higher Factory (now Jordan Flats) was a silk throwing mill. Exactly what
“newly erected” means is hard to say, unless there were significant changes
to Colway Mill. The building had been a ruin in 1831, so significant rebuilding
may have been required as well as new machinery.

Brown, in his guide book, wished the new industry every success, but then he
could hardly have done otherwise, being related to one of the owners. The
undertaking was a joint one of Messrs Brown and Wallis, Lyme merchant
families involved separately in various trades including such as ironmongery,
gas making, iron founding, corn milling and coal sales.

Colway Mill was re-equipped for the third time in its history. Sacking, cordage
and sailcloth making equipment is similar to, but not the same as the woollen
cloth machinery sold in 1847 (Paper 2: Woollen Cloth). Now, instead of their
seeds, it was the flax and hemp plants themselves that were being processed.
Such products were requisites for Lyme’s boat building and fishing industry,
otherwise reliant on Bridport goods. The evidence for its rapid failure was
soon apparent - in 1861 the remaining lease on the three storey building and
the twine spinning equipment was auctioned.

The auction, by Mr Jerrard, was on the premises, half a mile from the harbour
and five miles from Axminster Station. It was described as:

the twine, net and paper manufacturing business of Messrs Brown &
Wallis with the goodwill, plant, machinery and stock of twines, nets and
rope and the remainder of the leases on the premises — a large 3
storey warehouse, 3 combing shops, dyeing room and twinehouse,
foreman’s cottage and two acres of spinning walks, with water power.

As explained above, “spinning walks” refers to rope spinning, which often
takes place in the open air or in a long, narrow building. Here there was no
such “ropewalk” building, but the land between the mill leat and the river, now
bungalows, is long and narrow could have been used for this purpose. It was
described as “garden and orchard” in the earlier lease to Glyde & Co,
clothiers, but we know that lines of fruit trees are quite acceptable in spinning
walks. There is no other evidence for paper making, although these fibres can
be used to make strong papers, such as manila.
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Colway Mill became unused again, although in 1909 an electricity generator
was installed. By the 1940s the mill was a shell, without a mill wheel or
machinery. From 1947 to the mid 1950s Artisan Builders occupied the mill.
The foreman’s or miller's house was demolished in the mid 1950s and the mill
converted to flats.

The fibre making processes at Colway Mill

Twine can be made from flax or hemp, but hemp fibre is generally used for
cordage, i.e., ropes. Then nets were made from twine. Flax fibre was
generally used for sailcloth, which is a kind of coarse linen. Rope can be also
be made from hemp, manila or jute. Sacking was made from jute. Canvas was
a linen cloth until cotton appeared Polypropylene has replaced many of these
applications, but hemp is still used for special applications, such as ship’s
hawsers. Bridport became the centre of the twine, net and rope business,
whilst Dundee became the centre of the jute business.

To produce yarn from flax, ie linen thread, a long process is involved. Flax
grown for fibre is a tall plant with long straight stalks which are pulled from the
ground, not cut to give the maximum length of fibre. The seed is separated for
oil production and some kept by for next year’s crop. The stalks are retted (i.e.
rotted) in water outdoors in summer to remove the natural gums, dried,
scutched, broken and hackled to extract and comb the fibres. The stalks can
be dew retted by lying on mown summer grassland or retted in ponds or
watercourses, but the latter can be grossly polluting. The hackled fibres are
spun into yarn by hand on a special distaff spinning wheel or by machine in a
special hot-water process jenny or spinning frame. The resultant yarn, if
coarse, is twine for agricultural, fishing and marine use, if fine, is linen thread.
Depending how fine, linen thread can be woven into cloth such as sailcloth or
bed linen. Linen cloth needs to be beetled, or finished by hammering under
heavy timbers.

Colway Mill today - as Higher Mill Flats.  The waterwheel was to right of the small blue
door and the millpond lay behind the garages, its surface about level with their roofs.
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To produce yarn from hemp a similar process is used, but the terminology is
different. Stevenson (1812) explains that hemp was dew-retted to remove the
natural gum, then it is bawled under falling heavy timbers to separate the
fibores and then hackled and combed, after which it would be spun. Heavy
falling timbers were a feature of Colway Mill as an oil mill, so the design of the
mill with a horizontally rotating shaft would have suited the raising and
dropping of timbers by cams from the shaft.

If is doubtful if jute or manila were processed here, but items such as sacking
cloth might have been imported for sale by Wallis and Brown. No looms are
recorded for the weaving of sackcloth or sailcloth, which might also have been
bought in.

Wallis & Brown may have undertaken some of these activities at the Old
Factory site, before taking Colway Mill, during its use and afterwards, but
there is no particular evidence for that except that the Trade Directory for
1859 shows Messrs Brown & Wallis as manufacturing herring and mackerel
nets at Millgreen. William Banfield Wallis later purchased that site outright.
Silk throwing started in 1854, but evidently did not take up all the space there.
Certainly net manufacture requires a large space, which the Factory Garden
would have provided and which the silk throwsters, unlike the clothiers, did not
need for their processes.

Employment in the Oil and Fibre Industries

Apart from the principals in the firms involved there is no evidence of how
much employment these industries provided, apart from that of Matilda
Williams, a 23 year old twine spinner living in Millgreen in 1861. She had been
born in Bridport, a centre of the twine and rope industry. In addition J Rowsell
and D R Hounsel are recorded as Twine Spinners when they buried their
children in the Lyme Cemetry (Burial Records for 1858).

Gollop Trawls spilling out into the street Millgree n, demonstrating
the need for larger premises. The BELL electric light factory had been was in
the pre-fab behind the wall in the old Factory Garden. The site is now built
over, but the blue door to the right is that on No.10 Millgreen, the old factory
house.
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Nets and Trawls at the Old Factory, Millgreen

In the 1973 Roy Gollop set up Gollop Trawls in a pre-fabricated building, used
by BELL Lighting until 1973 to make light bulb filaments, behind a wall
opposite Nos. 8 & 9 Millgreen. This had been part of the cloth factory garden.
Gollop Trawls made and refurbished fishing nets, which needs a lot of space
to lay nets out. It was like dressmaking on a gigantic scale. Roy spread his
nets in Millgreen and on the playing field. At this time polypropylene was in
use, so the use of hemp, manila and flax cordage was not involved.

In 1979 Gollop Trawls sought planning permission to replace the existing
single storey net making unit and build a new 2-storey factory it is place at
Millgreen. The Town Council, in reacting to the neighbours concerns that
machinery might be noisy, heard that only scissors were used! The
permission was not taken up and the land was later off as two building plots.
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